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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

HELEN FUREY,
Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 17-1851(ABJ)

STEVEN T. MNUCHIN,
Secretary, U.S. Department of Treasury

Defendant

N N N N N N N N N N N

)
MEMORANDUM OPINION

This case arises out of plaintiff Helen Furey’s termination from hedagmgnt as an
Information Technology (“IT”) Specialist at the United States Departnfehteasury. Plaintiff
claims that theagencwiolated Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 200@#,seq. and
the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § G&tkeq(“ADEA”), when it subjected
her to a hostile work environment; discriminated against her based agadeernational origin,
and ageand retaliated against her for engaging in protected activity under battest&ompl.
[Dkt. # 1] 11 84115. The Merit Systens Protection Board (“MSB” or “Board”) upheld the
agency’s decisiorto remove plaintiff fromher position and plaintiff is also challenginghat
determination asrbitrary and cafcious under 5 U.S.C. § 4303d. 1Y 116-19.

Defendanthas movedor summary judgmernan all countsDef.’s Mot. for Summ. J. or,
Alternatively, Partial Mot. tdismiss [Dkt. # 1B(“Def.’s Mot.”); Mem. in Supp. of Def.’s Mot.

[Dkt. # 13 (“Def.’s Mem.”), andplaintiff has opposed the motion. Pl.’s Mem. of P. & A. in Opp.
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to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt.#15] (“Pl.’s Opp.”)! Plaintiff has nopointed to any evidence to show that
defendant’s justification for firing her namely, unacceptable work performarewas a mere
pretext for discrimination based on age, race, or national origin,retahation for complaining
aboutthe allegedly unlawful treatmenFEurther, the Court sees no reason to overturn the MSPB’s
determination to upholglaintiff's removal since the Administrative Judge’s decisiaras
supported by substantial evidence &ad a rational basis in the law herefore, the Court will
grant defedant’s motion for summary judgment.
BACKGROUND

Factual Background?

Plaintiff identifies herself aa fifty-year old Asian woman of Chinese national origin.
Compl. T 16. She began workifgy the Department of Treasuon January 31, 2010 as an IT

Specialist in the Department Offices Operations division of the Office of thé @Fsemation

1 Defendant also filed a reply brieBeeReply in Further Supp. of Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 16]
(“Def.’s Reply”).

2 The parties did not respond to eaxther’s statements of facihis failure could permit

the Court to treat the factual assertions as undisp&ed-ed. R. Civ. P. 56§€2) (“If a party fails

to . . . properly address another party’s assertion of fact . . . the court may: . . .rciestdet
undisputed for purposes of the motion.”); LCVR 7(h)@9Qr purposes of this opinion, though, any
citations to the parties’ statements of fact indi¢htd the Court has found the fact to dather
undisputed based on the factual statements put forward by both parties, or independentlylsupporte
by the ewdence cited by the partyurther, where the parties failed to address some relevant facts
contained in the record, the Court has cited directly to the record evid8eeEed. R. Civ. P.
56(c)(3) (“The court need consider only the cited materials, but it masider other materials in

the record.”).



Officer. Statement of Facts ar@enuine IssuefDkt. # 15] (“Pl.’s SOP) 1 2; Administrative
Record [Dkt. # 17t] (“AR”) at 643

For the rating period beginning on October 1, 2012 and ending on September 30, 2013,
plaintiff received satisfactory reviewsased on her performance plan. Pl’'s SOF §g8AR at
86—97 Ex. Ato Def.’s Mot. [Dkt.# 132] (together, FY2013Performance Appraisal’)Although
her supervisor, Chakravarthy Susarla, rated her as “fully succéssfulmost elementshe
observed that “it was not very clear if [plaintiff] hpd complete understanding and ownership of

the systems” for which sheas responsible. FY2013 Performance AppraégéalQ Further,

3 In support ofer factual statements, plaintdites to the Initial Appeal File (“IAF”) from
the MSPB proceedings. She consolidatedveesie excerptof the IAFin one large 68(page
Administrative Record (“AR”)submitted to the Court as an “Appendix” to the recwee
[Dkt. # 17-1] but instead athenciting to the page numbers in the Admirasive Record, plaintiff
directedthe Court to the page numberstbé IAF. This made reviewing cited portions of the
record unnecessarily difficult, and in the end, the Court found it much more efficiéta to the
corresponding pagination in the Administrative Record. However, even the Attatine
Record was not simply paginated @agesl through 680. Because plaintiff accounted for the
missing pages from the IAF, there are large gaps in the pagiratdthe Administrative Record
starts on page 31 and ends on page 1220. Therefer€ptint’s citations to the Administrative
Recordwill be based on the page number on the bottom right hand corner of each page.

The Cout notes that plaintiff's failure to individually identify the critical exhibits in the
record is consistent with her liaie to appreciate the proper standard of review in this case.
Although Count 9, plaintiff's challenge to the MSPB decisishased on the Administrative
Record,all of her employment claims must beviewedde novoand according to binding D.C.
Circuit precedent. SeeButler v. West164 F.3d 634, 639 n.10 (D.C. Cir. 1999), quoting 5
U.S.C. 87703(c). Yet, daintiff does not marshal the exhibits that in her view wodddeat
summary judgment, and her brief is based primamiyrior MSPB decisions that do not bear on
this Court’s legal analysis. Even the feites todistrict or Circuit court casetendto be to non
binding authority from othedistricts or Circuits See, e.q.Pl.’s Opp. at 24, 3{citing to Merit
Systens Protection Board cases for how to make out a prima facie cagisooimination and
retaliation);id. at 32 (citing Southern District of New York, Fourth Circuit, and Eleventh Circuit
casedo support her argument that defendant deviated from its regular practices).

4 There ae four possible ratings an employee can receive: Outstanding; Exceeliyed; Fu
Successful; and Unacceptable. Plaintiff “exceeded” in three critical elementsalElements

2, 3, and 9), and was “fully successful” in the other six (Critical Elemerts3,,6, 7, and 8).
FY2013 Performance Appraisal at&



Susarla observed that plaintiff “worked at a task level instead of working at tleetdesjel and
needed guidance and direction to make progrdsis.”

In August 2013, plaintiff waput on a detail as an IT Specialist (Applications Software) in
the Office of the Chief Information Officer, ACIO Enterprise Businestutibns (“EBS”),
Enterprise Content Management (“ECMand her position description remained the same. Pl.’s
SOFYT 4-5, AR at 65-71 (“IT Spedalist (Applications Software) Jobd3cription”) She became
one ofat leastfour project managers in that department. Pl.’s SOF $£€6AR 106, 109-10
(mentioningBill Marcinko, Sean Fox, and Camille Smith as other project manag&r#)at time,
her supervisor was James Graham, an IT Program Manager, and herleeebsdpervisor was
againChakravarthy Susarla, Director of Applications, ECM and Web Solutidet’s Statement
of Material FactgDkt. # 131] (“Def.’s SOF) 1 4;Pl.’s SOF § 7-8;EEOQ Investigative Affof
James Graham, AR at 38@08 (GrahamEEO Aff.”) | 3 (identifying himself as “Helen Furey’s
Supervisor’and describing the chain of commnBEO Investigative Aff.of Chakravarthy
Susarla, AR 41814 (“SusarlaEEO Aff.”) | 4 (describing how plaintiff “reported to Mr. James
Graham, and Mr. Graham has reported to [him]”).

While shewas on thisdetail, plaintiff was givena new performance plan thaicluded
many of the sameritical elements athe previous plan.SeeDef.’s SOF{ 6-7; Pl.'s SOF] 5;
seeAR 73-85,Ex. B to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 13] (together,'FY 2014 Performance Plan’see
alsolT Specialist (Applications Softwardpb Description.The critical éements relevant to this
case, forwhich plaintiff was later rated at an unacceptable level, are Critical Element # 1,
Communication (written and oral)Critical Element # 4, Techra¢ Competency; Critical
Element# 5, Expand Shared Service Offerings; and Critical Element # 6, Improve, Support and

Maintain OCIO/EBS Program OperatiorfS8ee~Y 2014 Performace Plan. The performance plan



detailedthe prerequisites necessary to achieve certain ratidgs id. Plaintiff received tle new
plan on March 11, 2014ndshe“reviewed and discussed the performance requirements with” her
supervisor.Pl.’s SOF  5seeFY2014 Performance Plan at 11.

While supervisingplaintiff, Grahamnoticeddeficienciesin her work product Decl. of
James Grahami\R at 107188 (“Graham Decl.”)] 27. For example, plaintiff was not submitting
required project status reports or following standard project managemnaeticgs and other
employees had complained to Graham about plaintiff's ineffegieréormance as a project
manager Id. 2730, see alscAR at 103-13,Ex. C to Def.’s Opp. [Dkt. #3-4] (together,
“Notice of Unacceptable Performance”) at 1. As a result, Graham removed her @gsca pr
manager from one of her assignments and replaced hesevithone elseGraham Decly 30;
Notice of Unacceptable Performance atAnd on June 11, 2014, Graham met with plairfoff
her midyear reviewand relayedhis concerns aboter deficient performance in several critical
elements. Graham Ded].32 Notice of Unacceptable Performance at 1

According to Graham, plaintiff continued to exhittie same fundamental deficiencads
not managingher projectsadequately and failing to “escalat[e] riskdspite his best efforts at
counseling her.GrahamDecl. § 33. So, on August 27, 2014, Graham sent plaintitteze
informing her that shkad been performing at an unacceptable level withrdeganultiple critical
elementdn her performance planDef.’s SOF § 8Pl.’s SOF | 16seeNotice of Unacceptable
Performance He thenplaced plaintiff on a 9@ay Performance Improvement Plan (“PIP").

Def.’s SOF { 8; Pl.’'s SOF 1 16eeNotice of Unacceptable Performanc&he notice outlined

5 The PIP ended on December 22, 2014, 117 days after it started, because the agency gave
plaintiff and Graham extra time to work together since plaintiff used leavegditie PIP period.
SeeEx. O to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 13-1J6(“MSPB Decision”) ats n.2.



various projects plaintiff needed to complete, as well as tmvwomplete those projects
satisfactorily in ordeto improve her performance and receive, at least, “fully successfulingvie
at the end of her PIP periodGeeNotice of Unacceptable Performance ail@. It also warned
plaintiff that “failure to demonstrate acceptable performance in angatrgiemenwill result
in . . .redwtion-in-grade, reassignment @moval from the [a]gency.Id. at 1 (emphasis added).

Plaintiff contacted an Equal Employment Opportuni(fEEO”) counselor on
approximatel\September 22, 2014, alleging that Gralthseriminatel against her on the basis of
her age, racesex,and national origin by placing her on the PIP. Def.'s SOF 1 9; Pl.'s SOf ] 22
Ex D. to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 1%5] (“"EEO Counselor Report'at 1 And plaintiff sent the EEO
counselomn informal complaint making the same allegationsarly October. Def.’s SOF | 11;
seeEx. Eto Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 136]. The counselor spoke with Graham abplaintiff's
allegations on October 8, 201keDef.’s SOF | 10; PIs SOFY 23;seeEEO unselor Report
at 3, and on the same day, Gralemailed Susarla and Debra Vess, oné@m@ham’ssupervisors,
about it. SeePl.’s SOF 11 2324; AR at 882.

On October 21, 204, plaintiff filed a formal EEOcomplaintwith the Department of
Treasuryalleging that the agency “discriminated against [her] on the basis d&lrrace, and
national origin.” Def.’s SOF  13; Pl.’s SOF ] 86gEX. F to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 1&] (“Formal
EEO Complaint]. The agency accedpd plaintiff's formal complant for investigationon

November 3, 2014. Def.’s SOF | B&eEx. G to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 18]. Graham submitted

6 Plaintiff does not cite to any record evidence to prove that she complaireed EEO
counselor on September 22, 2014. However, the EEO Counselor’s report supports this fact, and
plaintiff averred that this was true in her declaratiSeeDecl. of HelerFurey, Ex. 1 to Pl.’s Opp.

[Dkt. # 15-1] (“Furey Decl.”) § 22. A declaration may be used to oppose a motion as libmg a

made on personal knowledge, sets out facts that would be admissible evidence, andeshiogvs th
declarant is competent to tegtdn the matters stated. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(4).
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his initial affidavit to the EEO investigator on December 12, 2014. Pl.’'s SOFsg@6raham
EEO Aff.

Plaintiff received her performance appraisal for the Z2&b&lyear on December 22, 2014
and the review specifithat plaintiff did not successfully complete the PPef.’s SOFf 15;see
Ex. H to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 13®] (“FY2014 Performance Appraf). On January 15, 2015,
Graham emailed plaintitio inform her that she was no longer eligible for the telework program
because her performance wa# at the “fully successful” leveland she did not pass her PIP.
Def.’s SOFY 16;seeEx. | to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 13-10].

On February 2, 2015, plaintiff amended her EEO complaint to add a claim alleging that her
supervisors, Graham and Susarla, retaliated against her by giving her arsfacteayi
performance evaluation and removing her from telework becaudeaslengagedn protected
EEO activity. Def.’s SOF § 17; Pl.’s SOF | 8@gEx. J to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 1-31] (“Letter of
Acceptance”) Grahamsubmitted asupplementaaffidavit as part of the EEO investigation on
March 23, 2015P1.’s SOF  28;seeSuppl.EEO Inwestigative Aff. of James Graha®iR 44253
(“Graham Suppl. EEO Aff.”), an®usarlaalso provided onebut the date she submitted it is
unknown. Pl.’s SOFY 28;seeSusarla EEO Aff

On March 23, 2015, Graham issued a Notice of Proposed Removal to plaintiff informing
her that he was recommending her removal from her position for unsuccessful pecEmiive
critical elementsluring the improvement periodef.’s SOF[ 18; Pl.’'s SOF { 3%eeAR at 114
27,Ex. K to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 1312] (together, “Notice of Proposed Removal”). The Notice of
Proposed Removal named Susarla as the deaidficgal in the matter, and it stated that plaintiff
had fourteen days to reply to the notice orally or in writifmptice of Proposed Removat 11

Plaintiff submitted a written and oral response to the notice inAprid; Pl.’s SOF {1 4950;see



AR 204-09. She also provideadditional informatiorafter she was notified that she could respond
to the supplementahformation Graham had submitte®l.’'s SOF [ 5352;seeAR at 303-10.

On June 29, 2015%usarla issued the decisiontayminateplaintiff from her position.
Def.’s SOF { 19; Pl.’s SOF { 58¢eAR 315-23,Ex. L to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 1313] (together,
“Decision to Remove”).Susarla concluded that plaintiff’'s removal was warranted “because [her]
performance during the improvement period in two Core Competency CriticagéBfernd two
Performance Commitment Critical Elements was unacceptable.” DetisRemove at 1A few
days later, the agency issued a Standard Form 50 removing plaintiff from her po$tobinesf
June 29, 2015. Pl.’s SOF 1 %R at 72
Il. Procedural Background

On July 16, 2015, plaintifappealed her removal to the Merit SyssdPnotection Board
(“MSPB”) under the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978 ("CSRA'$eeDef.’'s SOF | 20; Ex. M
to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 1314] (“MSPB Appeal”);seealso5 U.S.C.8§8§4303(e), 7701, 7702(alhe
filing was a“mixed case appedlwhich is an appeal filed with the MSPB “thalteges that an
appealable agency action was effected, in whole or in part, because ofidiaton on the basis
of race, color, religion, sex, national original, disability, age, or genefarmation.” 29
C.F.R. § 1614.302(a)(2¥5ee alsdb C.F.R. §§ 1201.151201.1755 U.S.C. §§ 4303(e), 7701,
7702(a). If an employee chooses to file a mixed case appeal, the Board “shiailh, ¥20 days of
the filing of the appeal, decide both the issue of discriminatiod the appealable action in
accordance with the Board'’s appellate procedures under section 7701.” 5 U.S.C. § 7702(a).

In her appeal, plaintiffienied that her performance was deficient, and she claimed that “her
performance standards were not valid antlcommunicated to her; the PIP did not provide her

with a reasonable opportunity to improve; the PIP tasks were not related toitla¢ elgments of



her performance plan; and her removal was discriminatory on the basis cd@gand national
origin as well as retaliatory because of her prior EEO activity.” MSPB Dedsiénsee also
MSPB Appeal at 6.

Before the Board, the employer must demonstrate that its reasons fotHfe@irgiployee
based on unacceptable performance are supported by disdbstamvidence. 5
U.S.C. 87701(c)(1)(A). Further, an agency’s action cannot be sustained if the employee shows
that the decision was based on any prohibited personnel action, which includes unlawful
discrimination and retalimn. 5 U.S.C. 8§ 2302(b)(1(8)+9).

An Administrative Judge upheld the agency’s action on February 2, 2017. Def.’s
SOF1 22;seeMSPB Decision5 U.S.C. 8§ 4303; 5 C.F.R. 88 432.1204. The judgefound that
the agency had proven by substantial evidence that it had establishethpec®istandardsr
plaintiff's position, thatthey had been communicatéadl her, and that the PIP requirements
reflected those performance standards. MSPB Decisi®nlét. Thejudgealsoconcludedhat
plaintiff had a reasonable opportunity to imprpowegjecting plaintiff's argunment that she was
deprived of the necessary opporturbgcause she was a detailith a new performance plan
Id. at 12-23. As toplaintiff's affirmative defenses, the judge determined that plaintiérsoval
was not “motivated, even in part,” on the basis of “age, race, or national origin tehener
well-documented poor performanceyid that plaintiff had not demonstratady inference of
retaliation. Id. at27, 29.

Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. 8 7702(b)(1), plaintiff petitioned the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission(*EEOC”) to consider the Board’s final decisiovith regard to the employment
discrimination and retaliation claimand the EEOC concurred with the Board’s determination.

Def.’s SOF { 23seeEx. P to Def.’s Mot. [Dkt. # 145]. At that point, the MSPB’s decision



became judicially reviewable,8.S.C. § 770@)(5)(A), and plaintiff had the right to brirgl of
hercauses of action to the district could. 8 770Ze)(3); id. 8 7703(c).
On September 8, 2017, plaintiff filed a nioeunt complaintn this Court. See generally
Compl.
e Count 1: Title VII- National OriginDiscrimination— Disparate Treatment
e Count 2: Title VII-National OriginDiscrimination— Hostile Work Environment
e Count 3: Title VII- Race Discriminatior- Disparate Treatment
e Count 4: Title VIl- Race Discrimmation — Hostile Work Environment
e Count5: Title VII- Retaliation
e Count 6: ADEA -Age Discrimination- Disparate Treatment
e Count 7: ADEA -Age Discrimination- Hostile Work Environment
e Count 8: ADEA —Retaliation
e Count9: 5U.S.C. § 4303Wrongfu Termination
Compl. 11 84-115.
Plaintiff claims that she wasrminated because of her ranational origin, and agand
that she wafired in retaliation for making EEO complaint€ompl.{{ 84-115. She also alleges
that she was wrongfully terminated under 5 U.S.C. 8 4303, and she seeks review of part of the

MSPB'’s decisiorupholding her terminationld. 11 116-19.
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Defendant moved for summary judgment on all coulitsth respecto Counts 2, 4, and
7, thehostile work environment claims, defendasserted that plaintiff hddiled to exhaust her
administrative remedies. Def.’'Mem. at 68. In response, plaintiff stated that she “is not
contesting [d]efendant’s argument with respect to her claims of hostile workmme&nt or any

unexhausted claims.”Pl.’s Opp. at 2 n.1. And she makes no argumertisrimpposition about

7 The Court notes that there is no evidence in the record that would defeat defendamt’'s mot
for summary judgment on exhaustigrounds. Plaintiff has not allegednor submitted any
evidence that would show that she complied with the necessary steps to exhaust her
administrative remedies under Title VII or the ADEA for her hostile work enuient claims.
Both Title VIl and the ADEA require a person complaining of a violation to file arirastmaive
charge with the EEOCSee42 U.S.C. § 20008(e)(1) (requiring a Title VII plaintiff to file a
charge with the EEOC either 180 or 300 days after the alleged unlawful employmeiceprac
occurred); 29 U.S.(8633a(d) (“When the individual has not filed a complaint concerning age
discrimination with the Commission, no civil action may be commenced by any individual unde
this section until the individual has given the Commission not less than thirty dagg oban
intent to file such action.”seealso29 C.F.R. § 1614.105(a) (under EEOC regulations, aggrieved
person must consult with a counselor prior to filing a formal complaint for dis@tan based

on “race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, disability, or genetic nvaton”); 2
C.F.R. 81614.106 (outlining what must be included in a formal EEOC complaint, including a
“sufficiently precise” statement “to describe generally the action(s)amtipe(s) that form the
basis of the complaint”). Although plaintiff filed an administratcharge on October 21, 2014,
seeFormal EEO Complainit did not express or even hint at a hostile work environment claim
based on national origin, race, or afpt.at 3 (“l believe that the Agency has discriminated against
me on the basis of my agace, and national origin.”). And when she amended the complaint to
add retaliation claims against her supervisors, she did not include any referemostiteavork
environment. Seeletter of Acceptance Therefore, she did not exhaust her hostilerkwo
environment claimsSee Park v. Howard Univ71 F.3d 904, 907 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (holding that
the plaintiff did not exhaust her hostile work environment claim because she did corbplatin a

it in her administrative charge with the EEOC)

Further, when plaintiff brought her mixed case appeal to the MSPB, she did not complai
about a hostile work environment. MSPB Appeal at 6 (“Appellant’s removal from setiove
product of unlawful discrimination on the basis of age, race, and national origiell as reprisal
for engaging in protected activity So, she did not exhaust her administrative remedies through
that channel eitherSeeButler, 164 F.3d at 639 n.@[W]hen a federal employee claims he or she
has been affected by both an ‘adveeseployment action’ and a related Title VII violation,
administrative remedies may be exhausted for Title VII purposes byiag$&ath claims before
the MSPB.”), quotingloan v. West140 F.3d 1255, 1259 (9th Cir. 1998).
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a hostile work evironment® Seeid. Therefore, the Court will grant defendant’'s motion for
summary jugmenton Counts 2, 4, and.¥ As to the remainingditle VIl and ADEA counts, the
Court will also grant defendant’s motion since plaintiff has failed to come fdrwidin sufficient
evidence toshow that defendarst reasons for terminating her were a mere egtefor
discrimination based on her national origin, race, or age, or in retaliation for makidg EE
complaints. And the Court will grant summary judgment in favor of defendant on Count 9 since
the Administrative Judge’s decision was not arbitrary or capricious.
STANDARD OF REVIEW

Plaintiff's complaint arises out of a mixed case apped brought to the MSPB. That
appeal not onlghallenged amdverseemploymentaction taken- her termination- but it also
claimed that the action was taken, in whole or in part, becauseaingination and retaliation
prohibited by Title VII and the ADEA.See Perry v. Merit Sys. Protection Bti37 S. Ct. 1975,
1980 (2017) (describing a “mixed caseSge also Butlerl64 F.3d a638 “Although [MSPB]

decisions are generally reviewed by the Court of Appeals for the FedearaitCmixed cases’

8 Plaintiff insists that her haite work environment “claims can still be considered by the
Court as background evidence.” Pl.’s Opp. at 2 n.1, diieij R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morgan
536 U.S. 101, 113 (2002) (holding that Title VII does not bar an employee from using ior act
as background evidence in support of a timely claim filed with the EEOC, but also conchating t
all independently discriminatory acts and charges addressing those actertiostly filed). It

is somewhat unclear what plaintiff means by this statemefiter opposition brief, plaintiff refers

to certain instances when she was allegedly treated differently fromlleage®s, and she tries

to characterize these events as additional “adverse actions” in support dfehgitlTand ADEA
disparate treatment claimSee idat 25-30. But as discussed later in this opinion, plaintiff cannot
use the evidence she planned to use to support her hostile work environment claims now to make
new allegations of adverse actions in the hopes of supporting heratispraatment claims.

9 In the alternative, defendant moved to dismiss plaintiff's hostile work envinancteems

for failure to state a claim under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)s Deft. at 1; Def.’s

Mem. at 2 Because plaintiff does not contest that those claims have not been exhaustedtthe Cour
does not need to address the sufficiency of the claims.

12



that involve both MSPB appeals and discrimination claims . . . are reviewed in fdidénat
court...” Vickers v. Powell493 F.3d 186, 192 (D.C. Cir. 2007). However, the district court
applies different standards of review to each claim. As the D.C. Circuit psned:

On the discrimination claim, the complainant “shall have the right to have

the facts subject to trigle novoby the reviewing court.” The district court

reviews nondiscrimination claims on the administrative record, and will set

aside the MSPB’s determination only when “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse

of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law”; “obtained without

procedures required by law, rule or regulation having been followed”; or
“unsupported by substantial evidence.”

Butler, 164 F.3d at 639 n.10, quoting 5 U.S.C. § 7703(c).

Therefore, plaintiff's discrimination and retaliation claims are teWwduated under the
familiar summary judgment standar&ummary judgment is appropriate “if the movant shows
that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is enjittiginent as a
matter of law.” FedR. Civ. P. 56(a). The pig seeking summary judgmefiiears theinitial
responsibility of informing the district court of the basis for its motion, and fgergi those
portions of the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissiongsagether
with theaffidavits, if any, which it believes demonstrate the absence of a gersupeismaterial
fact.” Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986) (internal quotation marks omitted). To
defeat summary judgment, the Aoroving party must “designateesgfic facts showinghatthere
is a genuine issue for trialfd. at 324 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The mereexistence of a factual dispute is insufficiéatpreclude summary judgment.
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Ina177 U.S. 242247-48(1986). A dispute is “genuine” only if a
reasonable fadinder could find for the nomoving party; a fact is “materiatinly if it is capable
of affecting the outcome of the litigatiorld. at 248;Laningham v. U.S. Nayy13 F.2d 1236,
1241 (D.C. Cir.1987). Inassessing a parg/motion,the court must “view the facts and draw

reasonable inferences ‘in the light most favorable to the party opposing the rsujudgsent

13



motion.” Scott v. Harris 550 U.S. 372, 378 (2007) (alterations omitted), qgdtinited States
v. Diebold, Inc,. 369 U.S. 654, 655 (1962)€r curian).

In evaluating faintiff's last claim, which relates to the MSPB’s decision upholding her
removal,the Court “review[s] the MSPB’s assessment deferentially, upsettingyitiforilwas
arbitrary and capricious or an abuse of discretion, or if it was unsupporsedstgntial evidence.”
Fogg v. Ashcroft254 F.3d 103, 112 (D.C. Cir. 2001), citing 5 U.S.C. 8§ 7703(c).

ANALYSIS

The Court will grant defendant’s motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's
disparate treatment claimsunder Title VIl and the ADEA .

Title VII makes it unlawful for an employer, including the federal government, to “fail or
refuse to hire or to discharge any individual, or otherwise to discriminatesagay individual
with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of emghbybecause of such
individual’s race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.” 42 U.S.C. 8§ 2{jag1);id. 8§ 2000e
16(a) (stating that “[a]ll personnel actions affecting employees or apgdidor employment” in
the federal governmetdghall be made free from discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex,
or national origin.). The federal sector provision of the ADEA provides that “[a]ll personnel
actions affecting employees or applicants for employment who are at leastrd0fyge . . . shall
be made free from any discrimination based on age.” 29 U.S.C.&ap33 0 make out an

employment discrimination casmder either statutehe plaintiff must show that stig suffered
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an adverse employment action (ii) because of the employee’s race, caj@mnyalex,or national
origin, orher age.Brady v. Office of Sergeant at Arn&20 F.3d 490, 493 (D.C. Cir. 200%).
Plaintiff points to no direct evidence of discriminatory animus in this case. Wiaimaff
brings adisparate treatment claim under Title \di the ADEA and relies on circumstantial
evidence to establish the employer’s unlawful condwas plaintiff does here the Court applies
the burdershifting framework established McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. @en 411 U.S. 792
(1973). SeeWilson v. Cox753 F.3d 244, 247 (D.C. Cir. 20(DEA); Vickers 493 F.3d at 194
(Title VII); see also Chappell-Johnson v. Powé#40 F.3d 484, 487 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (noting that
“the Supreme Court set out a buresmfting approach [inMicDonnell Douglakto employment

discrimination claims in cases where the plaintiff lacks direct evidencearindiisation”).

10 Even though Title VII and the ADEA both use the pbrdbecause of,” Title VII
jurisprudence permits plaintiff to prove thaa protected characteristigas a‘motivating factor”

for the adverse action. 42 U.S.C. § 20Q0m); seeGinger v. District of Columbia527 F.3d
1340, 1345 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (explaining the difference between “simgleve” and “mixed
motive” disparate gatment cases under Title VII). By contrasiplaintiff bringing a disparate
treatment claim under the ADEA “must prove by a preponderance of the evidence . .e thas ag
the ‘but for’ cause of the challenged employer decision” because the ADEArfdbasovide that

a plaintiff may establish discrimination by showing that age was simply a mogvaittor.”
Grossv. FBL Fin. Servs., In&57 U.S. 167174, 17748 (2009). Despite these differences, courts
often analyze disparate treatment claims under Title VIl and the ADEA togesipecially where

the plaintiff is not bringing a “mixedhotive” case. See DeJesus v. WP C841 F.3d 527, 532
(D.C. Cir. 2016) (describing the differences between the statutes but using thmusdemeshifting
framework to analyze the plaintiff's disparate treatment claiBsynett v. PA Consulting Grp.

715 F.3d 354, 358 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (“We consider [the plaintiff's] age and sex discrimination
claims in the same way we analyze Title VII claimssgge alsdKoch v.Whitg 251 F. Supp. 3d
162,177 (D.D.C. 2017). Despite the one sentence in the retaliation section of her opposition where
plaintiff cites to a MSPB decision using the “motivating factor” standsedPl.’s Opp. at 31,
plaintiff has notasserted, oprovided the Court with any reason to concluidat she is bringing
anything other than a singfaotive caseénere. Sothe Court finds it appropriate to analyze the
disparate treatment claims together.
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Under that framework, the plaintiff bears the initial burden of establishingre facie
case!! McDonnellDouglas 411 U.S. at 8QZFord v. Mabus629 F.3d 198, 201 (D.C. Cir. 2010)
(ADEA); Holcomb v. Powe]l433 F.3d 889, 895 (D.C. Cir. 200@)itle VII). Once a prima facie
case is estdished, then “[t]he burden. .must shift to the employer to articulate some legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason” for the adverse actidfcDonnell Douglas411 U.S. at 804Ford,

629 F.3d at 201Holcomb 433 F.3d at 896If a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason is given, the
burden shifts back to the plaintiff to prowhat the proffered reason is a pretext for
discrimination. McDonnell Douglas411 U.S. at 8047ord; 629 F.3d at 201Holcomh 433 F.3d

at 896.

But in cases like this one where the defendant profésgggimate, nordiscriminatory
reasons for thehallenged actignthe court need not conduct the threshold inquiry into whether
the plaintiff established jrima faciecase of discrimination. Instead, the court is requiced t
analyze whether the defendant’'s asserted reason is in fact a legitimaiisaroninatory
explanationor whether it is simply a pretext for discriminatioBrady, 520 F.3d at 494“Lest
there be any lingering uncertainty, we state the rule cletrlgTitle VIl disparatereatment suit
where an employee has suffered an adverse employment action and areeimgdogsserted a
legitimate, nordiscriminatory reason for the decision, the district court need-raotd should
not—decide whether the plaintiff actually made out a prima facie case Muixnnell

Douglas’) (emphasis in original).

11 To establish a prima facie case of disparate treatrdiscrimination, “the plaintiff must
establish that (1) he is a member of a protected,¢Bdse suffered an adverse employment action,
and (3) the unfavorable action gives rise to an inference of discriminatimrkkio v. Powell
306 F.3d 1127, 1130 (D.C. Cir. 2002), citiBgown v. Brody 199 F.3d 446, 452 (D.C. Cir. 1999).
“In the ADEA context a complainant makes his requpecdha facieshowing if he (i) belongs to
the protected group, (ii) was qualified for the position, (iii) was terminateld(iv) was replaced
by a younger person.Paquin v. Fed. Nat’l Mortg. Ass;ri19 F.3d 23, 26 (D.C. Cir. 1997).
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Once the defendant has proffered a legitimate explanation, the burden shifts &intifé pl
to demonstrate why the defendant is not entitled to judgment as a matter of lae/.contiéxt of
a disparate treatment claim, the plaintiff may defeat summary judgment by ptbainthe
defendant’s legitimate, nediscriminatory reason is a pretext for discriminatiddgDonnell
Douglas 411 U.S. at 804. At this juncture, plaintiff bears the burden of persudsiorgan v.
Fed. Home LoaMortg. Corp, 328 F.3d 647, 651 (D.C. Cir. 2008jting Reeves v. Sanderson
Plumbing Prods.530 U.S. 133, 143 (20Q®ord, 629 F.3d at 201.

A plaintiff can demonstrate that the emplogezkplanation for his discharge was pretextual
by providingevidence from which a reasonableyjicould find that the employer’s proffered,
lawful reasons for acting are “unworthy of credende€evesb30U.S. at 143, quotingex. Dept
of Cmty. Affairs v. Burdined50 U.S. 248, 2561981). Showing pretext, though, “requires more
thansimply criticizing the employes’ decisionmaking processHairston v. VanceCooks 773
F.3d 266, 272 (D.C. Cir. 2014)t is not sufficient to “show that a reason given for a job action
[was] not just, or faj or sensible;” nor is it sufficient to challenge “the ‘correctness or ddgiyabi
of [the] reasons offered.Fischbach v. D.C. Depbf Corrs, 86 F.3d 1180, 1183 (D.C. Cir. 1996),
guotingPignato v. ArericanTrans Air, Inc, 14 F.3d 342, 349 (7th Cir. 19%ndMcCoy v. WGN
Cont’l Broad. Co, 957 F.2d 368, 373 (7th Cir. 1992 he plaintiff must identify evidence from
which a reasonable jury could find that the employer’s stated reasons were “plabngtioting
Pignatq 14 F.3d at 349. And “an gafoyer’s action may be justified by a reasonable belief in the
validity of the reason given even though that reason may turn out to be falserje v. Leavift
407 F.3d 405, 415 (D.C. Cir. 2005)f the employers stated belief about the underlyingtiais
reasonabl@ light of the evidence,. .there ordinarily is no basis for permitting a jury to conclude

that the employer is lying about the underlying facBrady, 520 F.3d at 495.
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Here, defendant has offerdegitimate, nordiscriminatory reasanfor its decision to
terminate plaintiff:? It asserts that plaintiff performed unacceptably in her position, and that she
failed toachieve the requirements of H&liP when given the opportunity to improvBeeDef.’s
Mem. at 11

The agency’sreasons for terminating plaintiff are welbcumented, and plaintiff's
performance deficiencies were brought to her attention at leageéanbefore she was terminated.
SeeFY2013 Performance Appraisal; Notice Whacceptald Performace (reiterating plaintiff's
performance deficiencies and notifying her that she was being plaeg@iBnNotice ofProposed
Removal (proposing plaintiff's removal from her position due to her failure to successfully
complete her PIPPDecision to Remove (concluding that plaintiff’'s removal was warranted based
on the reasons in Graham’s removal lett®gfendant has supplied evidence to showylzatiff
was removed because her performance inctove competency critical elements awd personal
commitment critical elements was unacceptzdnhel because she failed to show any improvement
in those areas when given the chance. Decision to Remove at 2.

The agency offered several ndiscriminatory reasons for giving plaintiff unaccdpéa
ratings and terminating her, including: plaintiff “failed to satisfy the . . . sulbstarequirement
that [she] provide weekly status reports of [her] work on the ECM Metrics Dashbogect pising
EPMLive”; she “failed to produce a SharePoint 2@uBiness Intelligence capabiis report
meetingthe goals specified in the PIP” because the one she submitted was “pregpeoggibg
materials from the Internet” and “[s]uch plagiary without attribution isceptable”; she did not

“produceanyrepot assessing the WebTrends product,” and did “no work in connection with [her]

12 Defendant concedes that a termination qualifies as an adverse action ued€tl Eind
the ADEA. SeeDef.’s Mem. at 11.
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assignment to develop the ECM Metric Dashboard and to promote [her] code through the ECM
life cycle,” as she was required to do; plaintifideged “unfamiliarity” with or inaccessibility to
certain software was “incredible” and unjustifiable given her level of experi¢he resources
available to her, and the fact that no expertise was required to completetb@wss$igned tasks;
andfinally, she did not takergy action on certain projects until miMbvember, almost two months

into the PIP period, and some action she did take, such as “request[] that thé Wathiaee] be

set up on [her] laptop .[was] a clear violation of Treasury security policy.” Demisto Remove

at 3-7 (emphasis in original).

This proffered explanation shifts the burden back to plaintiff to demonstrate, based on all
of the evidence in the record, that the agency’s asserted se@s@mot the actual reasefor the
adverse action,ral that defendant intentionally discriminated agairer on the basis of her race,
national origin, and/or ageSee Brady520 F.3d at 494 “All of the evidence” includes any
combination of “(1) the plaintiff's prima facie case; (2) any evidene@lintiff presents to attack
the employer’s proffered explanation for its actions; and (3) any funiaarece of discrimination
that may be avkble to the plaintiff.” Vickers 493 F.3d at 195, quotindka v. Wash. Hosp. Cfr.
156 F.3d 1284, 1289 (D.C. Cir. 1998).

Plaintiff has not come forward with any evidence to show that the agencycives aut
of discrimination based oher race,national origin or age. Tothe extent that plaintiff's
discrimination claims are premised on the contention that she was treateehtiffcom other
similarly situated employees, plaintiff has put forth no evidence on that isguplaititiff can
eshblish pretext masking a discriminatory motive by presenting ‘evidenceestuggy that the
employer treated other employees of a different [protected classhore favorably in the same

factual circumstances.’Burley v. Nat’l Passenger Rail Cor@01 F.3d 290, 301 (D.C. Cir. 2015),

19



quotingBrady, 520 F.3d at 495. “To prove that he is similarly situated to another employee, a
plaintiff ‘must demonstrate thah¢] and the allegedly similarly situated . . . employee were
charged with offenses of compate seriousness.’Id., quotingHolbrook v. Renp196 F.3d 255,
261 (D.C. Cir. 1999).

In her opposition, plaintiff makes the conclusory assertion that her “comparns@ean
Fox (white/Caucasian), Bill Marcinko (white/Caucasian), and Camille Srbithck/African
American), all of whom are in their 30s and native English speakers$ ®ip. at 25. While
these three people were project managers in the same depatpaintiff plaintiff does not
provide evidence that any of the threemmitted ag “offenses”at all, or that they were then
treated differently than she was afterward@e single relevant sentence devoted to whether her
“comparators” were disciplined and removed merely asserts, with no faojyadrt, that “[t]he
[a]gency did not put the other PMs, who are younger, not Asian, and not Chinese, on PIPs and
then remove them.Id. at 30. But plaintiff has not provided the Court with any evidence to support
the contention that the other project managessewindeiperforming employees deserving of
discipline in the first place Therefore, plaintiff has failed to produce any evidence to show that
other employees committed offenses that were simildra®et for which she was sanctionadd
that she was subsequentigated more harshly than they were.

Plaintiff's attempt to oppose defendant’s motion for summary judgwmigmregard to her
disparate treatment clainfedls short in other important ways as well.

Notably, plaintiff’'s entire opposition is based on the premise that shema&aouta prima
facie case of discriminationSeePl.’s Opp. at 2430. Howeverthe DC. Circuit has expressly

stated thatvhethera plaintiff can establish a prima facie case is irrelevant at this statiee of
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proceedings® See Brady520 F.3d at 4994. What matters is if plaintiff has submittedidence
to rebut defendant’s legitimate ssmsfor firing her. And other than hefailed attempt tadentify
comparatas, she has come forward with nothing else.

Next, plaintiff fails to addresghe central adverse action in this cadger termination — in
her opposition brief, even though ittiee onlyallegedlydiscriminatory adverse action identified
in the complaint. SeeCompl. 85 (“Defendant terminated [p]laintiff's employment because of
[p]laintiff’'s national origin.”);id. 193 (“Defendant terminated [p]laintiff's employment because
of [p]laintiff's race.”); id. § 105 (“Defendant terminated [p]laintiff's employmergchuse of
[p]laintiff's age.”).

Instead, plaintiff's oppositiocatalogue®ther alleged adversvents Pl.’s Opp. at 25
30. For example, plaintifirgues that the agency took adverse actions against her when it excluded
her from meetings, denied her reqsdst training and telework, and made her sit on a different
floor from the rest of her teanid. at 25. While these circumstances were mentioned irgdreeral
background section of thmomplaint,seeCompl. {1 2531, plaintiff did not include them indr
disparate treatment counts. oM importantly, plaintiff does nadllegein the complaintthat
defendant toolany of these actiorfsecause of her race, national origin, or age.

A plaintiff cannot amend her agplaint through her oppositionBudik v. Ashley36 F.
Supp. 3d 132, 144 (D.D.C. 2014) (“It is a wetltablished principle of law in this Circuit that a
plaintiff may not anend her complaint by makingwellegations in her opposition brie), titing

Larson v. Northrop Corp21 F.3d 1164, 11734 (D.C. Cir. 1994§affirming district court’s grant

13 But one more reason why no reasonable juror could find evidence of discrimination based
on age is that plaintiff likely could not even make out a prima facie case under the ABHe

did not provide any evidence, let alone even allege in her complahshl was replaced with
someone younger than her after she was firede Paquinl119 F.3d at 2827. Therefore, no
reasonable juror could infer age discrimination on this set of facts.
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of summary judgment in favor of the defentahere the plaintiff failed to plead a cause of action
and raised the issue for the first time in his oppositieeg also Webster v. Spenc&t8 F. Supp.

3d 313, 319 (D.D.C. 2018) (observing that the complaint did not include an ADEA claim and it
could not be amended to include one throtiggplaintiff's opposition brief). Ad, even if she
could, plaintiff has not alleged the facts necessary to determine that these everfis apiali
“adverse actions”she has not alleged or shown that thesulted m a significant change in her
employment status or caused her tangible h&@ese Douglas v. Donovab59 F.3d 549, 5553

(D.C. Cir. 2009) (recognizing that typical adverse actions such as teomseatquire showing a

change in employment status, whdther less obvious adverse actions, such as giving a poor
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performance evaluation or reassigning office space and equipmentersfoiving that the
decision “caused an objectivelnigible harm” to the plaintiff}*

In this case, all gplaintiff's discrimination clairs fail because she has rinted to any
evidence to showhat defendant’s justification for firing her unacceptable performance in
multiple critical position elementswasamere pretext for discriminatiorBecause nogasonable
jury could concludeghat her termination was taed by any sort of discriminatory animube

Court will grant summarjudgment in favor of the agency on Counts 1, 3, and 6.

14 Moreover, to the extent that plaintiff now wants to allege thatet were additional
discriminatory adverse actions, it is unclear if plaintiff has exhausted tti@ims.Plaintiff filed
her formal complaint with the EEO on October 21, 2014. Ishigreiterated all of the factual
circumstances, budlaimed that th agency discriminated against her based on her race, national
origin, and age by placing her on a PIP. Formal EEO Compl. { 13.

Further,EEOCregulations require a federal employee to “contact” a counselor fvdthi
days of the date of the matter akelgo be discriminatory.” 29 C.F.R. § 1614.105(a){je D.C.
Circuit has treated this requirement as a statute of limitations, and a court may sidércan
discrimination claim that has not been exhausted in this maS®er.Steele v. SchaféB5F.3d
689, 693 (D.C. Cir. 2008). Thsupreme Court has held that “[e]adiscrete discriminatory
act. . .starts a new clockor filing charges alleging that attand that “[e]ach nicident of
discrimination. . .constitutes a separate actionable ‘unlawful employment practiddcigan
536 U.S. at 11314 (noting that the plaintiff “can only file a charge to cover discrete acts that
‘occurred’ within the appropriate time period”But the complaint does not allege when all of
these eventsccurred Forexample, plaintiff does not provide a date on which her telework or
training requests were denied, or the date on which she was placed on a different flabefrom
rest of the teamSeeFormal EEO Compl. 11 13(b), {€@); Compl. 11 2931. She does a&ge
that she was excluded from a meeting in April 2@&4~ormal EEO Compl. § 13(c); Comf.26,
but this event occurred more than forty-five days before she filed her Formal EE@a@wrand
is therefore time barred

Finally, a federal employee may exhaust her remedies by asserting her empldgimen
before the MSPB.SeeButler, 164 F.3d a638 n.6. Here, when plaintiff brought her mixed case
appeal to the MSPB, she only alleged that her “removal from service” was tha¢poddnlawful
discrimination on the basis of age, race, and national origin.” MSPB Aaipg&aBecausglaintiff
never allged that any of defelant’s other conduct was motivated by discriminatory animus, she
did not exhaust any additional claims through the MSPB appeal.
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Il. The Court will also grant summary judgment in favor of defendant on plaintiffs
retaliation claimsunder Title VII and the ADEA.

Plaintiff allegesthat defendant fired her in retaliatibor engaging in protected activity
under Title VII and the ADEA. Compl. 1 101, 113.

“Both Title VII and the ADEA prohibit the federal government from retaliating against
employees who complain of employment discriminatiofohes v. Bernank&57 F.3d 670, 677
(D.C. Cir. 2009), citingMontgomery v. Chgob46 F.3d 703, 706 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (Title VII);
Gome-Perez v. Potter553 U.S. 474, 491 (2008) (ADEA). Retaliation claims brought under
either statute, if baseamh circumstantial evidence pkintiff's claims are here, trigger the burden
shifting framework announced McDonnell Douglas Id.; see also MKenna v. Weinberger29
F.2d 783, 790 (D.C. Cir. 1984) (“TiMcDonnell Douglasramework is also applicable to claims
of retaliatory dismissal.”). Under that framework, a plaintiff must establisimagacie case of
retaliation by showinghat she engged inprotectedactivity, that she was subjected to an adverse
action by her employer, and that there is a causal link between the protectdy act the
adverse employment actiodones 557 F.3d at 677If theplaintiff establishes a prima facie case,
the employer must produce a legitimate and-regaliatory reason for its actiongd. And if the
employer does so, the burdershifting framework disappears, and a court reviewing summary
judgment looks to whether a reasonable jury could infer . . . retaliation frolmeadividence,’
which includes not only the prima facie case but also the evidence the ptdfetifto ‘attack the
employer’s profiered explanation for its action’ and other evidence of iaiah.” 1d., quoting
Carter v. George Wash. Unj\887 F.3d 872, 878 (D.C. Cir. 2004).

Since defendant has profferea legitimate, norretaliatory reason forterminating
plaintiff —that is, plaintiff's poor work performancethe Court must evaluate whether plaintiff

has provided sufficient evidence to enable a reasonable jury to find that the emptatexds
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reasons were not the actual reasons for the adverse action, and that the desiieeonasaihe
butfor cause of the adverse actidoniv. of Tex. Sw. Med. Ctr. v. Nassar0 U.S. 338, 352, 360
(2013)(holding that a plaintiff must establish that “the desire to retaliate was tHerm#use of
the challenged employment action,” that is, “that the unlaxgtaliation would not have occurred
in the absence of the alleged wrongful action or actions of the eniplogee alsaJones 557
F.3d at 67#79 (“At that stage, the only question is whether the employee’s evidencesaieate
material dispute on the ultie issue of retaliation.”)

Plaintiff advanceshree arguments in an attempt to rebut defendant’s legitimate reasons for
firing her: (1) the “close temporal proximity . . . between [her] protectedtgcnd her removal”
establishes a causal connentiand gives rise to an inference of retaliation;“(@xnagement’s
inconsistent testimony” demonstrates an effort to mask retaliation; atinek @yency’s “depaure
from its regular practices” is evidence of prttePl.’s Opp. at 3234. None of thesereates a
guestion of fact for the jury, though, so defendant’s motion for summary judgmehbewianted
on these counts as well.

A. Temporal Proximity

In the absence of direct evidence, the Court may infer a causal connection between the
protected actity and the dverse employment action on a showing that “the employer had
knowledge of the employee’s protected activity, and the adverse personnel action taok pla
shortly after that activity Jones557 F.3d at 67&ecognizing that this evidence tends to support
circumstantial evidence of retaliati at the prima facie stage, ahét it “applies to the ultimate
inquiry as well”) citingHolcomh 433 F.3d at 903. While courts have not definitively established
the exact time lapse between these twenés; it is well established that the temporal proximity

between the two must be “very close” to show a causal connediitark Cnty. Sch. Dist..v
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Breeden532 U.S. 268, 234 (2001);Hamilton v. Geithner666 F.3d 1344, 135%8 (D.C. Cir.
2012) (observing that the Supreme Court and D.C. Circuit have suggested that “entimibe
period between the protected activity and the adverse employment actionandygalone, be
too lengthy to raise an inference of causation,” but that there is taltimo “brightline three
month rule”).

Defendant admits that plaintiff “engaged in statutorily protected activity veihenmade
an EEO complaint.” Def.’s Mem. at 12. The agenefers toSeptember 22, 2014, the date
plaintiff first contacted the EEO aaselor, and October 21, 201%the day she filed her formal
complaint,butit does not expressigcknowledge that plaiftiamended her EEO complaioh
February 2, 2015. As of that date, #ygencycharacterized plaintiff'allegations as including her
claims of disparate treatment based on age, race, and national origin, adwetlasns that she
was subject to retaliation for filing her earlier complair@e€l_etter of AcceptanceSo, February
2, 2015 is another date the Court may considgee Jonesat 557 F.3d at 68@“[W]e have
repeatedly held that an adverse action following closely on the heels aftpdoaetivity may in
appropriate cases support an inference of retaliation even when occurraiigr the initial filing
of charges.”).

There is evidence in the record that Grahgaintiff's supervisor,and Susda, the
terminating officialknew abouthe EEO complaintsBut the chronology in its entirety does not
create an issue for the jury because plaintiff’'s supervisor stimeellall rolling before plaintiff
raised any concerns at all, and plaintiff was terminated well after thensgmg official became

aware of her protected activity.

15 Defendant cites the date as October 22, but the facts reveal that the comdaimadea
on October 21.SeeDef.’s Mem. at 12; Formal EEO Complaint (date in corner lists 10/21/2014).
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On October 8, 2014, Grahamailed Susarlabout the informal EEO complairsgePl.’s
SOF 111 2324, AR at 882 the formal EEO complaint was also filed in Octolagrg] on December
12, 2014, Graham submitted an affidavit to the EEO investigat@sponseo the formal EEO
complaint. Pl’'s SOF  26eeGraham EEO Aff Further, aftemplaintiff amended her EEO
complaintin February of 2015, Graham supplied an updated affidavit to the EEO coumselor
March 23, 2015. Pl.’s SOF 1 28rahamSuppl.EEO Aff. Susarlgprovided ones wel| but his
is undated. Pl.’s SOF | 28usarla EEO K. At approximately the same timen March 23,
2015 Grahamformally proposed to remove plaintiffSeeNotice of Proposed RemovaAnd on
June 29, 2015%usarlanade the decision terminateplaintiff. SeeDecision to Remove.

In sum, the record shows that there were five months between the time {daintiff
immediatesupervisor, Grahanpfirst became aware of any EEO activity and when he proposed her
terminationand that time period is too long to givesrie any inference ofwisation.See Breeden
532 U.S. at 27374 (citing with approval cases finding temporal proximity of three and four
months to be insufficient to demonstrate a causal connection).

It is true that Graham responded to plaintiffs amended EEO complainproposed that
she be terminated on the same day. The record does not reveal the precise sequamtdg or id
the date that he began to prepare either documentewar if the amended EEO complaiaime
second, one cannot look at that confluencewants in isolation. It is undisputed that Graham
voiced his concerns about plaintiff's performance before plaintiff had madeoanplaints to the
EEO counselors at all. Graham placed plaintiff on a PIP on August 27, 2014, and it was only after
that ewaluation that plaintiff first claimed she was being treated unfairly. The facGiraham
continued to be dissatisfied thereafter does not suffice to establishtretalSee Breederb32

U.S. at 272 (“Employers need not suspend previously planned [adverse actions] upomidgscove
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that an employee engaged in protected activity, “and their proceeding lhes previously
contemplated, though not definitively determined, is no evidence whatever of c&yshdityeer
v. Billington, 34 F. Supp. 3d 100, 119 (D.D.C. 2014) (applying this principle where the plaintiff
received a written warning that a negative report following a nidayreview period would result
in the denial of a grade increase; plaintiff made a complaint; and therdedtelaintiff was denied
a grade increase).

As for Susarla, the terminating official, he first became aware of EEO acti8gpiember
or October of 2014, aritiat would be far too removed in tiff@m June of the next year whea h
terminated plaintifito supprt an inference of retaliation.See Breedenb32 U.S. at 27374.
Plaintiff appears to be relying soledy thecloseness in time betwewmen Susarla learned about
theamendedEEO complainiand when he issued the termination decisserPl.’s Opp. at 38,
but there is no evidence of when Susarla gained that knowledge. Plaintiff leagemobinted to
any evidencén the record otvhenSusarla submitted haffidavit to the EEQnvestigatoy which
would indicate approximately wheme hadknowledge of plaintiffsamendeaomplaint. Plaintiff
simplyassumes that Susarla submitted difsdavit “in or around the end of March 201secause
that is when Graham submitted his.

But assumptions do not carry the day at the summary judgsteage. The time between
the February 2, 2015 filing of the amend&EO complaint and plaintiffsJune 29, 2015
termination is almodive months, and even if plaintiff could prove that Susarla learned about the
amended EEO complaiimt lateMarch, there wuldstill be a threenonth period between the time
he became aware and when he took steps to terminate plaintiff. Thiscfireeemonth gap in
time is, at best, weak evidence of a causal connegiaticularly when the supervisor had been

aware ofthe initial protected activity long before that time
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Therefore,plaintiff relies on additional theoriea an effortto establish an inference of
retaliation in this case. “Employgenay cast doubt on the employer’s proffered reason by, among
other things, pointing to ‘changes and inconsistencies in the stated reasons for e achian
[and] the employer’s failure to follow established procedures or criteria’. Evans v. Sebeliyus
716 F.3d 617, 620 (D.C. Cir. 2013), quotBigady, 520 F.3d at 495 n.3. Plaintiff tries to do hoth
but she is unsuccessful.

B. Inconsistent Testimony

Plaintiff maintains that Graham and Susarla gave inconsistent testimony about her
termination, and that this evidencesisfficient to establishhat the stated reasons were a mere
pretext to mask retaliation. Pl.’s Opp. at But none of thecitedtestimony goes to the heart of
the matter: whether the agency has given “shifting reasons” for her téonitieat could spport
a jury’s conclusion that the agency'’s proffered reasons for termination herfalger See Brady
520 F.3d at 495 n.Evans 716 F.3d at 620.

Instead, plaintiff refers the Court to deposition testimony and argues thaan®rand
Susarla are notredible witnesses. Pl.’s Opp. at-3%. For example, plaintiff contends that
Graham lied in his deposition since he testified that he only discussed plaiBEfDscomplaint
with Susarla and Vess, yet another employee testified in his depositionahan@tiold hinabout
the complaint.Id. at 34. She also maintains that Susarla provided “inconsistent or otherwise not
credible testimony” because he was “unable to explain how the PIP assignmentseddo
[plaintiff's] job duties,” and that some of his interrogatory responses did naipingth what he
allegedlyknew after plaintiff had submitted affirmative defenses in response to her proposed

termination. Id. at 36-37.
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While aplaintiff can show pretext by demonstrating that the employer gaveicigpand
inconsistenteasongor the adverse actipsee Brady520 F.3d at 495 n.Evans 716 F.3d at 620,
plaintiff has not done so heraVhether Graham or Susarla have been contradicted about other
minor matters or not, the alleged inconsistencies in the cited evidence have nothingtkotkde w
reasons for plaintiff's termination.

C. Departing from Regular Agency Ractices

Plaintiff alsoargues that the agency departed friegwegular practices when iplaced her
on a PIP while she was on a detail, and requested supplemental information fiam Gleut
his recommendation to remove her, and that tiwsedeviations give rise to an infence of
retaliation Pl.’s Opp. at 32.

To support her firsirgument, plaintiff offers one piece of evidence: a single sentence from
the deposition of Russel D’Costa, the Employee and Labor Relations Spechadisiversaw
plaintiff's removal. Pl.’s Opp. at 3233,citing AR at 996-96, Depof Russel D’Costé&‘'D’Costa
Dep.”) at 13:1315. After being asked if it is “a common practice at Treasury to put detailed
employees on PIP’s,” D'Costa answered, “I've never seen thatCof)a Dep. at 13:335.
However, plaintiff fails to mention thaight before D’Costanade that commengetestified that
he did not “think there’s anything wrong with thatimeaning placing a detailed employee on a
PIP. Id. at 13:5-8.

That D’Costa had “never seen” an emplopégced on a PIP whilen a detail does not
establishthat it was adeparture from practice to do so, especially in light of his other comment
that he did not believe there would &eything wrong withdoing so. Therefore, this evidence

does not tend to show pretext.
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Turning to plaintiff’'s next argumenthat it was not the agency’s typical practice to allow
proposing officials to provide supplemental informatiorsupport of an employee’s proposed
removal she points to the deposition testimorof D’Cogta and Susarla. However, the cited
portions of the depositions reveal information that does not support plaintiff's position.

First,itis true that D’Costa testified that Grahanovidedsupplemental information to the
deciding official in order to answer questions that arose after plairggbreled to the notice of
proposed removalSeeD’Costa Depat8:20-9:16. But in response to the question of whether he
had “ever required” clarificadn from the proposing official befordie responded with a
resounding, Yes. Yes; id. at 9:26-10:2 andhestated that he had done so “[p]robably less than
half’ of the times he haldeen involved irdisciplinary actions Id. at 10:3-5. Plaintiff points out
thatD’Costa “did not testify that it was the [a]gency’s common practicesbtain supplemental
information from deciding officials. Pl.’s Opp. at 33. But than@ the sames providing
evidence thatequesng the information was deviation from normal agency practicélhe
evidence indicates that requesting additional informatias an option thateciding officialshad
exercised in the past, and it does not support plaintiff's theory that the ag@adgdiérom its
regular practices here.

Plaintiff also points to Susarla’s deposition testimony, in which he clearly could not
remember how or why Graham provided any supplemental inforntatiim. SeeAR 888-911,
Dep. of Chakravarthy Susarla (“Susarla Dep.”) at 328 Although he said he “may [have] asked
[for] some information or something,” he could not remember and suggested that thaiioiorm
may have been exchanged through someone in human resources Bi€bstas. Id. at 33:19
22;id. at 36:546. Nothing in Susarla’s testimony sheds any light on whether it was the agency’s

regular practice to receive supplemental information from the proposingbffici
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While there is evidence to suggest that Graham ididact provide spplemental
information to the deciding officiaplaintiff admits in her statement of facts that she was given
the gportunity to respond to Grah&rsupplemental materiatnd did so. Pl.’s SOf52. So
even if requesting additionaiformation from the deciding official was not the most prevalent
agency practice, nothing about tmanner in which the agency went about conducting itself here
seems suspect.Therefore,no reasonable jurocould conclude based on this evidence that
defendant’s asserted reasons for terminating plaintiff werege pretext for retaliation

Thus, at the end of the day, plaintiffataliation claims are based upon the weak temporal
proximity between the amended EEO complaint and her terminattueevidence is insufficient
to show that retaliation was the “but for” cause of the alleged adverse aetblassar 570 U.S.
at 36Q especially because the record indicates that the agency was sanphuing to pursue an
action it initiatedoefore plantiff engaged in any protected activity

Plaintiff's performance deficienciesvere identified before she even made her first
complaint to the agencyin September 2014see FY2013 Performance Appraisal; Notice of
Unacceptable Performancend the stated reasons for her termination wbesed onan
accumulation of those inadequacieSeeNotice of Proposed Removal; Decision to Remove.
Grahamwarned plaintiffthat she was already underperforming when he met with her for her mid
year review inJune 2014, and bause her p&rmance did not improve, h@aced her on a PIP
in August WhenGraham did so, plaintiff was tottiat if she did not successfully complete PIP,
she could be terminated By the end of December, the agency had concludadd informed
plaintiff —that shefailed the PIP, and thisasover one monttveforeplaintiff amended her EEO
complaint—the only complaint thatas any temporal proximity to thhermination that occurred

almostfive months later.
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While plaintiff didengage in protected adtiy between the time she failed théP andhe
date shevasfired, the entire chain of evenlisading to plaintiff's terminatioreveals that the weak
proximity of those events cannot prdwatfor causality. Thereforeplaintiff has not come forward
with sufficient evidence to enable a reasonable juror to find th&E@ractivitywas thampetus
behind her terminatigrandthe Court will grant defendant’s motion for summary judgment on
Counts 5 and 8.

I1I. The Court will uphold the MSPB decision and grant summary judgment on Count.9

In addition to her discrimination and retaliation claims under Title VII and thEAD
plaintiff filed a separate claim before this Cocinallerging the MSPB’s decisiomo upholdher
removal. SeeCompl. 11 75-83, 116-19.

After plaintiff was fired, shdrought a mied case appeal before the MSPBeeMSPB
Appeal. Plaintiff challenged her removal as procedurally imprpmerat 6, and one of the
arguments she madgefore the Boardvas that she could not be removed for unacceptable
performance while serving on a detail as opposed to her position of record. MSPBracl®,
(citation omitted). The Administrative Judgeejected this argument, and plaintiff nogka this
Court to set aside that portion of the judggesisionand find her removal to have been unlawful

under 5 U.S.C§ 4303!® SeeCompl. 11 7677, 82, 117.According to plaintiff's complaint, the

16 Plaintiff does not allege in her complaint that any other portion of the MSR8atewas

wrongly decided See generallfompl. But in her opposition, plaintiff argues radroadly that

the agency denied her a reasonable opportunity to demonstrate acceptabheaped under all

of the critical elements in her fermance plan and that the Administrative Judge’s conclusion to

the contrary should be set aside. Pl.’s Opp. at 16. Because defendant did not move for summary
judgment on these grounds, and it is not at all clear to the Court that plaingjéfichey facts or

causes of action related to this theory in her complaggCompl. Y 7583, 116-19 (alleging
factsrelated to her allegedly unlawful removal “based on performance dwmdetail’ but not
challenging the judge’decision in any other way), the Court will not take up these issues at this
time.
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judge’s “decision was wrong because [p]laintiffs duties in her [Departmentaic&3if
performance plan were completely different from the duties she performed dethiéto ECM.”
Id. 9 82.

When considering nediscrimination claims on appeal from the MSPB’s determination,
“the district court may set aside the administrative adjudication only if it is agb@raapricious,
obtained without compliance with lawful procedures, unsupported by substantial evienc
otherwise not in accordance with lawBarnes v. Small840 F.2d 972, 979 (D.C. Cir. 1988ge
also5 U.S.C. 8 7703(c). “To show that the MSPB’s decision itsanbitrary and capricious,

defendant needs only to show that the decision has a ‘rationaibsEidaw.” Hanna v. Herman
121 F. Supp. 2d 113, 121 (D.D.C. 2000), quotivitder v. Prokop846 F.2d 613, 620 (10th Cir.
1998). Further, in assessing whether the MSPB’s ruling was supported by substadéate, a
court is not supposed to “reeigh conflicting evidence,” andagency conclusidis] may be
supported by substantial evidence even though a plausible alternative internpoétite evidence
would support a contrary view.Rowntree v. Johanns382 F. Supp. 2d 19, 32 (D.D.C. 2005),
guotingRobinson v. NTSE8 F.3d 210, 215 (D.C. Cir. 1994)ltimately, a court’s role in this
area is limited, and it reviews the Board’s decision deferenti&bgg 254 F.3d at 112Having
examined the Aministrative Judge’decision, the Court concludes that it was based on substantial
evidence in the record, and that it was not arbitrary, capricious, or contraw:. or la

The first issue thgudge resolved was whether plaintiff's positicon the detail was
different fromher position of recordMSPB Decision at 2811. She reviewed plaintiff's FY2013
and FY2014 performang#ansand job descriptioand concluded that plaintiff “continued to work

under the same position description and the same core critical elements,"tdhdrtdaties and

responsibilities did not changeld. The judgecredited the representations made in affidavits
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andshe foundhatanydifferences between plaintiff's performance plansg job dutieSwere not
unique to her but applied to all IT specialists the ECM teanand were due to changes in
technology and software applications that affected the nature of the work thelgldat”1;see
also id.at 17 (crediting Graham'’s affidavit that stated that plaintiff's “duties with the E€zivh
remained substantially the same as thosepsi®rmed on the DO Apps teayn” Further, she
found that plaintiff's PIP was based on the critel@iments of her FY2014 performance plan after
reviewing both the language in it that directly quotes from the plan’s critical elementshand
statements in Graham'’s affidavit regarding his involvement in creating thie &dRjunction with
human resourcedd.

Ultimately, based on this evidence, the judge concluded thaintpf's FY2014
performance plan was the performance plan of her official position of recoel any changes
between her 2013 and 2014 plan would have merely reflected “changes in the agency’'s IT
environment” “regardless of whether she had been detailed froDQh&ppsteam to the ECM
team,” and becauder PIP was based on the standards set forth iRY2014performance plan.
MSPB Decisiorat11, 17. Plaintiff has not identified any pertinent evidence that the Board failed
to consider, nor has sheavattempad to show that the judgeuld not faily and reasonably have
found the facts as she did. Therefore, the Court concludes that the judge’s finding®tvere
arbitrary or capricious or unsupported by substantial evidence.

Next, the judgeaddressed plaintiff’'s argumethiat“ agencies may not remove an employee
for unsatisfactory performance in a detailfMSPB Decision at 16 (citations omitted)She
concluded that the casphkintiff citedwerenot only distinguishable, btiey explicitlyleft open
the possibilityfor removal basg on unacceptable performanceabdetail. See id. citing Betters

v. Fed. Emergency Mgmt. Agenby M.S.P.R. 405, 409 n.4 (1993Jhis is not to say, however,
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that poor performance during a detail can nevardeal (at least in part) as the basis of a Chapter
43 action.}). The judgealso noted that while there may be a “general prohibition against an
agency'’s taking such actions against an employee who is on ditailgrohibition applies when

an employeesi detailed “to a position different from her official position of record and neingi
the chance to improve under the performance plan used in her official position of relcbrd.”
citing Betters 57 M.S.P.Rat 408-09.

In analyzing the case law in the contekttee facts of this case, the Administrative Judge
again reviewed the performance appraisals and took note of the fact thaff pleast charged
with unacceptable performance in four critical elements, two of which wereommon among
all agency employees, and thus unchanged from her FY 2013 performanceM&#B’ Decision
at 16-17. She continued: “That is to say . . . the [plaintiff's] performance standards enahtde
for critical elements #1 and #4 were unchanged from the timedabfedetail to the time after the
detail, and she was removed, in part, for unacceptable performance in #rmeats!”Id. at 17.
The judgealso relied on her factual finding that plaintiff's performance plan wasahtlie
performance plan of her position of recor&ee id Thus, the judgeoncluded thabecause
plaintiff's PIP was based on the performance plan of her position of rsbardvas given a chance
to improve under those standaradsdthe removal was appropriate even if she was on a détail

Plaintiff argueghat thgjudgefailed to comply with controlling case la@ndshe maintains
that the MSPB’s decision BBetters v. Federal Emergency Management Ag&sici.S.P.R. 405
(1993) should have controlled the judgeitng. Pl.’s Opp. at 15Plaintiff reliesheavilyon that
caseto support her position thahecould not be removed whilen detail 1d. But her analysis

does not establisteversible error in the judgedecision. See Brown v. Vilsa¢ck23 F. Supp. 2d
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118, 124 (D.D.C. 2013) (noting that it is plaintiff's obligation to establish reversibleiartbe
MSPB'’s decision).

In Betters the agencyemoved the employee from his position as a computer systems
analystbased on a showing thais performance of three critical elements was unacceptable under
his performance plan. 57 M.S.P.R. at 407. Prior to placing the employee on a PIP, théadenc
detailed m to a position with differerpperformance standard®m his position of recordld. at
408. And, when he began the PIP, the employee was given new performance standagdsyet
and he wasiltimately terminated under those standarttk. The administrativeydge reversed
the removal actionagreeing with the employee that the agency had failed to provide him with a
reasonable opportunity to demonstrate acceptable perforragmeche was presented witbw
performance standardse a detailanda revised performance plavhen he was placed on a PIP
and bothwere “substantially different from his prior standatd&l. The agency then petitioned
the Board for review of that decisiorid. at 408.

The Board confirmed that “[a]n arination of the [employee’s] performance plan prior
to being placed on the detail . . . shows that it differs substantially from the panf@mplan he
received when he was placed on the detedétters 57 M.S.P.R. a09. Further, the plan the
ageng gave to the employee when he was placed on the PIP also “differed sihyificam that
for the [employee’s] official position of recordfd. at 410. Becausean employee “is deprived
of a meaningful opportunity to improve where the agency has not informed him that his
performance in his official position of record was unsatisfactory and givenrhoportunity to
improve under the standards of that position,” a@chuse an agency “may not use a PIP either to
reduce or increase the standards ofgwerance established at the beginning of the appraisal

period,” the Board found no error in the administrative judge’s decision to overturnheyegis
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removal Id. The agency had violated both principleSee id(“By changing the [employee’s]
performance plan first by detail and then pursuant to the PIP, the agency didonotha|
[employee] a reasonable opportunity to demonstrate acceptable performance hader t
performance plan in which the agency allegede¢hgployee’s] performance was unacceptable.”).

Thus, theBettersopiniondoes notstand for theoroadproposition that an employea @
detail can never be removed for unacceptabldopmance. As the Administrative Judgeted,
the Boardstatedn its ognionin that caséhat “[t]his is not to say, however, that poor performance
during a detail can never be used (at least in part) as the basis of a Chapien43Betters 57
M.S.P.R. at 409 n.4eeMSPB Decision at 16.

Further,“the propriety ofa charge of unacceptable performance is judged not based on a
position description but rather on the employee’s performance plan and the elemetaisdards
derived under it.” Betters 57 M.S.P.R. at 40%ee alsaVISPB Decision at 11 The Court has
aready concluded thahe judge’dactual determination that plaintiff's FY2014 performance plan
was the same as the performance plan of her position of record was supported jiaubsta
evidence. Because plaintiff's P#Pas based on the standards announced in that plan, the judge
properly distinguished the facts of this case fiBaiters The judge’sultimate conclusion that
plaintiff was given a reasonable opportunity to demonstrate acceptablenmeréan her position

of record, despite being placed on a detallpws logically from her application of the facts to
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the law. Therefore, the Court does not find the deciside t@rbitrary and capricious or contrary

to law.1”

CONCLUSION
For all of the foregoing reasons, defendant’s motion for summary judgniebegranted

on all counts.

A separate order will issue.

%WM B eh—
U

AMY BERMAN JACKSON
United States District Judge

DATE: September 24, 2018

17 The only other cases mentioned by the administratigguand cited to by plaintiff, were
Smith v. Department davy, 30 M.S.P.R. 253 (198&ndCortes v. Department of Interio26
M.S.P.R. 88 (1985)SeeMSPB Decision at 16ee alsd?l.’s Opp. at 15 (citing to the same two
cases). In both of those cases, the Board reversed the employee’s remisiai Because the
employee was not given an opportunity to demonstrate acceptable performance gnmgediiee
received “unacceptableatings while on a detail with different performance standards and job
duties from his position of recordseeSmith 30 M.S.P.R. at 25%ortes 26 M.S.P.R. at 8390
These cases are distinguishable for the same reasBaties and therefore, the @Qa concludes

that the Administrative Judgetkecision was not arbitrary and capricious or contrary to law.
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